Medication Assisted Therapy and Women with Opiate Use Disorder and Children:

A Study of Stigma

by

Lauren Campbell

Clinical Health Psychology, University of Michigan Dearborn A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science Clinical Health Psychology in the University of Michigan-Dearborn 2023

Master's Thesis Committee:

Associate Professor Michelle Leonard, Chair Professor Kevin Early, Co-chair © Lauren Campbell 2023

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to the following individuals who have been instrumental in the completion of my thesis. Their support, guidance, and encouragement have been invaluable throughout my academic journey.

First and foremost, I would like to extend my sincere appreciation to my mentor and chair of my thesis committee, Dr. Michelle Leonard. Your expertise, humor, and insightful feedback have significantly shaped the direction and quality of my research. Your mentorship and belief in my abilities has made this project possible. I would also like to acknowledge Dr. Kevin Early for his contributions and guidance. Your thoughtful insights, critical analysis, and support have been instrumental in refining my thesis.

A special mention goes to my fiancé, whose unwavering love, understanding, and support have carried me through the ups and downs of graduate school. Your belief in my abilities and your constant encouragement have been the driving force behind my perseverance. Thank you for being my rock and for celebrating every milestone with me.

Furthermore, I would like to express my heartfelt gratitude to my parents. Your unwavering belief in my abilities, your constant motivation, and your support have been the pillars of my success. Your love and encouragement have fueled my determination, and I am forever grateful for your presence in my life.

I would also like to extend my thanks to the faculty members, colleagues, and friends who have provided valuable insights, feedback, and support during the course of my research.

ii

Your contributions have been invaluable in shaping my ideas and enhancing the overall quality of my thesis.

Lastly, I would like to acknowledge the support of the academic institution and its resources that have provided me with the necessary infrastructure and opportunities to pursue my research. To everyone mentioned above, please accept my heartfelt appreciation for your support and encouragement. Thank you for believing in me and for being an essential part of my academic journey.

•

Table of Contents

Acknowledgementsii
List of Tablesvii
List of Appendices
Abstractix
Chapter 11
Introduction1
Causal Factors for Opiate Use Disorder2
Conceptualization of Stigma in Substance Use4
Mental Health Versus Substance Use Disorder Stigma7
Impacts of Stigma10
Treatment for Opiate Use Disorder11
Medication Assisted Treatment Stigma12
Women and Stigma14
Pregnant and Parenting Women with OUD and Stigma15
Predicting Stigma17
The Current Study
Hypotheses of the present study
Chapter II
Methods
Participants

Measures
Demographic24
Attitudes Toward Mental Illness Questionnaire24
Perceived Stigma of Addiction Scale24
General25
Personal25
Procedure
Chapter III
Results
Data Screening27
Hypothesis 1 Results
Hypothesis 2 Results
Hypothesis 3 Results
Hypothesis 4 Results
Hypothesis 5 Results
Hypothesis 6 Results
Chapter IV
Discussion
Hypothesis 1
Hypothesis 2
Hypothesis 3

Hypothesis 4	
Hypothesis 5	35
Hypothesis 6	
Discussion of the Current Study	
Strengths	
Limitations	
Future Research	
Clinical Implications	
References	54

List of Tables

Tał	oles
-----	------

Table 1: Demographic Characteristics of the Sample	41
Table 2: Measure Means and SD for Measures of Stigma	42
Table 3: Correlations for Measures of Stigma	43
Table 4: Regression Analysis for Covariates Predicting Personal Feelings of Subs	tance
Use Stigma	.44

List of Appendices

Appendix A: Attitudes Toward Mental Illness Questionnaire	46
Appendix B: Perceived Stigma of Addiction Scale	47
General	47
Personal	48
Appendix C: Opiate Use Disorder Treatment Information	50
Appendix D: Vignettes	51
Appendix E: Patient Debriefing Form	53

Abstract

Substance use disorder (SUD) is often perceived by the public as dangerous and immoral, with individuals perceived as dangerous and to blame for their diagnosis. Women with children often struggle with opiate use disorder (OUD) and face unique and additional forms of stigma due to gender biases and societal expectations. The stigmatization and discrimination can lead to dangerous consequences such as treatment avoidance and higher rates of relapse in the year post-partum. Understanding nuances of stigma and how SUDs are perceived can help reduce these outcomes.

Participants (N=254) were shown a vignette about a woman who had a history of intravenous heroin use, which caused her to lose her job and ability to care for her son. She chooses to stabilize on a medication for OUD and is able to abstain from illicit substances for 3-years while regaining employment and care of her son. Participants were asked to complete several measures of stigma to assess their views toward mental health, substance use, and opiate use more specifically.

These findings suggest that mental health is distinct from substance use stigma, and individuals with children are more likely to feel negatively toward women with an OUD history, even when the individual is engaged in medication assisted therapy and has actively abstained from drug use for several years. This was particularly true when these women were in a caregiving or educational setting.

Stigma toward perinatal women with OUD, even when sustaining recovery, can be especially enduring due to lingering negative perceptions about their social deviance. Psychoeducation about factors involved in OUD and treatment options may counteract this prevalent negative view.

Chapter I

Introduction

Over the past 20 years, the number of individuals in the US with an opiate use disorder (OUD) has risen dramatically. In 2019, ten million individuals misused opiates (SAMHSA, 2020) and 47,600 experienced fatal overdoses in the United States alone (NIDA, 2021). While there are treatments available such as medication assisted therapy (MAT), which is considered the gold standard for OUD, it remains widely underutilized. Among the many medical, financial, and social barriers to treatment, a widely cited reason for this is stigma. Stigma is multi-faceted and is enacted at different levels throughout society, which has been shown to lead to treatment avoidance and other adverse events for impacted individuals. This is likely because drug users are perceived as immoral, self-serving, and to blame for their condition (Corrigan, 2009b; 2003; 2001a; Mushtaq et al., 2015). Stigma is especially pronounced for mothers with an opiate use history, as they exist in the middle-ground between two extreme perceptions of identity: one of a mother, who is selfless, nurturing, and protective, and a substance user, who is selfish, reckless, and self-destructive (Cooke et al., 2023). Understanding stigma toward mothers with OUD who choose to stabilize on MAT can provide a more informed and compassionate approach to addressing this population.

Substance use disorder (SUD) has emerged as a prevalent and pressing public health challenge, transcending geographic, cultural, and socioeconomic boundaries. The widespread and alarming rise in SUD cases demands immediate attention and comprehensive understanding. Defined by a complex interplay of biological, psychological, and social factors, SUD

encompasses a range of addictive behaviors, from alcohol and nicotine to illicit drugs and prescription medications. In 2021, an astounding 21.9 percent of the population or 61.2 million people used illicit drugs in the past year (SAMHSA, 2023). Of those individuals, 46.3 million met DSM-5 criterion for a substance use disorder during that time, 24 million of whom had a drug use disorder. Despite universally elevated rates of drug use, a startling 75% of the drug overdose deaths in 2020 involved an opioid (SAMHSA, 2023). Opiate use disorder (OUD) is defined by the DSM-5 as a chronic misuse of opiates that causes clinically significant impairment or distress, resulting in two or more criteria to be endorsed over a 12-month period (American Psychological Association, 2013). Opiate use disorder has become an increasingly urgent issue with the opiate crisis being declared a public health emergency in 2017. In 2021, 9.2 million people aged 12 or over reported opiate misuse, with an estimated 2.4 million people currently meeting criteria for OUD. Between 2019 and 2020, overdose fatalities increased by 38% overall and synthetic opioid deaths increased by 56% during this time. While these numbers continue to climb, it is vital to engage in a comprehensive evaluation of what led to such a pervasive problem (Murphy & Polsky, 2016; Shulman et al., 2019; NIDA, 2021).

Causal Factors for OUD

The US opiate epidemic is a multi-dimensional issue with biological, psychological, and social burdens to consider. A robust theory of etiology discussed in the literature is over prescription. Although prescribing of opiates in the past 20 years has increased exponentially (Dasgupta et al., 2018), the reality is much more complex. In the 1980's, patients began to approach pain relief differently due to increased life expectancy and a lower pain tolerance threshold, beginning the view of pain as a fifth vital sign in medical practice (Dasgupta et al., 2018). Pharmaceutical companies were able to inaccurately claim that opioid medications were

dependence-free (Dasgupta et al., 2018). People turned to a cheaper and more potent alternative when doctors became stricter with prescribing amidst growing dependency on opiate pain medications. Increased heroin use spurred the production of synthetically-produced Fentanyl, which caused overdose deaths to spike 540% nationally (Dasgupta et al., 2018). These factors are believed to have steadily increased OUD, addiction, and overdose over the past three decades. This suggests that overprescribing may not have been the main offender in the epidemic, but just one factor among many.

Other influences are thought to contribute to the development of an OUD, including biological and psychological vulnerabilities. Deficient neurotransmitters such as endorphins or dopamine may make an individual more susceptible to the reinforcing and euphoric effects of an external drug (Dydyk et al., 2020). Elevated norepinephrine, which is hypothesized to be genetic but exacerbated by environment, has been thought to contribute to the risk for substance use disorder development (Fitzgerald, 2013). Further, those with a first degree relative with any substance use diagnosis are 50% more likely to develop an opiate use disorder (Kendler et al., 2003). While heritability markedly contributes to disorder risk, environment also plays a part. When drugs are normalized by peers or family, this can also contribute significantly (Dydyk et al., 2020). On top of a strong genetic load, shared environmental risk factors such as family discontinuation, poor parental supervision, and low social rearing class contributed to the development of externalizing disorders and their common comorbidities (Kendler et al., 2003).

Diagnoses such as depression, post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), and anxiety are more likely to occur when a substance use diagnosis is present (Dydyk et al., 2020). Childhood trauma and abuse have been found to influence drug use and play an impacting role in the development of SUDs (Dydyk et al., 2020). Social and structural issues are also thought to play a

role in the uptick of opiate use in the past several decades. Economic hardship, somaticized pain from trauma, disability, emotions such as hopelessness, and increasing work requirements have been suggested as factors that led the United States to be the largest consumer of opiate products in the world (Dasgupta et al., 2018). Despite growing prevalence, stigma remains one of the most relevant barriers to treatment for those impacted. This is due to a history of stigma that has been associated with these disorders since their earliest conceptualization.

The United States has a history of solving the perceived "moral issue" of substance use through legal interventions, which solidified an early view of its parallel with criminal behavior (Brezing & Marcovitz, 2016). Treatment for this disorder developed outside of the traditional medical-based psychiatric model and there was little effort put into understanding its neurological underpinnings. Those with OUD were often physically and financially isolated, meaning that facilities were run outside of conventional hospital settings and insurance companies did not reimburse for these services (Brezing & Marcovitz, 2016). Substance use research only began to develop after Vietnam veterans returned from war with high rates of heroin dependence (Brezing & Marcovitz, 2016; Mintz et al., 1979). The National Institute on Drug Abuse began to invest more money into researching the neurobiological roots of substance use and its complex etiology. As this model of SUD developed, research was collected to show it as a chronic medical issue with psychosocial, genetic, and environmental factors that play a salient role (McLellan et al., 2000). Despite this, the early criminalization and societal stigma toward all kinds of substance use remains largely unchanged to this day (Schomerus et al., 2011).

Conceptualization of stigma in substance use

Substance use disorder remains one of the most stigmatized conditions worldwide due to the perception of voluntary onset, lack of willpower, and social deviance (Corrigan et al., 2009b;

2003; 2001a; Mannarini & Boffo, 2015). Those with SUD are often vulnerable to substance use due to marginalization status. While those enacting stigma often feel it serves to prevent further drug use, it has been shown to have a contrary effect; stigma is associated with higher rates of relapse and adverse physical and mental health outcomes (Ahern et al., 2006).

Stigma was first formally conceptualized by the sociologist Erving Goffman as something that reduces an individual "from a whole and usual person to a tainted, discounted one" (Goffman, 1963). There are several conceptualizations of stigma that assist in understanding how they impact communities. In the mental health and substance use literature, different levels of stigma are discussed. The literature in this area discusses institutional (also referred to as professional or structural), social (also called group stigma), and self-stigma, which each interact and impacting the individual and culture at large in different ways (Corrigan et al., 2009a; Ahmedani, 2011; Subu et al., 2021). These level-specific constructs are suggested to help understand how stigma may develop in modern society.

Institutional stigma exists systemically within the healthcare system, government, and areas of employment (Livingston, 2021; Subu et al., 2021; Ahmedani, 2011). This can include discriminatory policies or barriers to access that lead certain groups unable to benefit from resources, programs, and opportunities within these systems. For example, stigma in the healthcare system reduces treatment seeking, care quality, patient trust, and adherence (Ahern et al., 2006; Committee on the Science of Changing Behavioral Health Social Norms et al., 2016). This can cause issues of access and quality with healthcare workers, such as unequal access, neglect, withholding of services, fragmented care, negative attitudes, and coercive or paternalistic approaches (Livingston, 2021). Institutional stigma in this sense can cause a trickle-down effect on the way groups are perceived by the general public, leading to social stigma.

Social stigma is suggested to develop from the need of society to group those who are different to them. Stigmatized attitudes and beliefs towards individuals with drug use disorders are often in the form of social stigma, which is structural within the general public. The insidious nature of this is due to frequently held individual beliefs about SUD, which add a level of commonality, contribute to a general consensus, and ultimately normalize and reinforce these ideas as stereotypes (Ahmedani, 2011). This is theorized to stem from an "us versus them" mentality, meaning that individuals tend to treat those they perceive as peers or part of their "group" more positively than those they see as outsiders. Social stigma can also continue this cycle by contributing to institutional stigma (Ahmedani, 2011). Health care workers, government employees, and hiring directors are all individuals with thoughts and beliefs that make up the general public, and their attitudes often reflect a larger societal value at the group level. Social stigma can also reinforce stereotypes which may influence how public policy is decided, causing institutional level stigma. For example, Americans are more likely to perceive those with SUDs as dangerous and unpredictable than other countries (Jorm & Reavley, 2014; Schomerus et al., 2011). These widespread beliefs can lead public policy to de-emphasize issues that support those with substance use problems. The impact of institutional level stigma has a mutually reinforcing effect on group level stigma and can cause internalized stigma for those with SUDs (Brezing & Marcovitz, 2016).

Due to structural and group level beliefs about substance users, individuals often have established negative views due to their context within society by the time they personally meet criteria for an SUD (Committee on the Science of Changing Behavioral Health Social Norms et al., 2016). Due to this environment of judgement, when a person develops substance use issues, they often feel shame and have a diminished sense of self-worth which leads to isolation and

avoidance of treatment. Self-stigma is characterized by negative feelings, maladaptive coping, and stereotype alignment (Livingtston, 2012). Research has shown that self-stigma in substance use disorders is associated with reductions in self-concept, hope, self-esteem, social, academic, and job engagement, treatment participation, and overall quality of life (Jones & Corrigan, 2014; Subu et al., 2021). Given this deleterious impact, it is important to understand the greater construct of stigma and how it exists structurally, interpersonally, and individually.

Another second way of understanding stigma is proposed in Corrigan's attribution model of discrimination, which is often discussed in the SUD stigma literature. It includes themes of dangerousness, contagion, blameworthiness, treatability and immorality, stating that these factors are significant predictors of stigmatizing beliefs and provide insight to the extent to which disorders are viewed as deviant (Corrigan et al., 2009a, 2003, 2001a, 2001b). Substance use has been found to significantly associate with all five constructs of discrimination, which can account for the discrepancy in views between mental health conditions and substance use disorders (Yang et al., 2017; Mushtaq et al., 2015).

Mental Health versus Substance Use Disorder Stigma

Substance use disorder stigma often stems from misconceptions and moral judgments about SUD as a choice or a character flaw rather than recognizing it as a complex health condition. People with SUD may face social exclusion, discrimination, and barriers to employment, healthcare, and housing due to the stigma, even in recovery (Lee & Boeri, 2017; Link et al., 1997). While there are overlaps between mental health stigma and SUD discrimination, OUD stigma can be particularly pronounced due to the perceived moral implications and societal views around drug use (Mak et al., 2007). Mental health and SUD tend to be seen as distinct categories. While mental health conditions like depression and anxiety appear to be more accepted, substance use remains highly stigmatized (APA, 2019; Brown, 2011).

Corrigan's attribution model and the research done in this area provides data on the distinction between mental health and substance use disorder stigma. Studies have found significant evidence suggesting that the general public views substance use as a distinct category of illness when compared to other mental diagnoses (Yang et al., 2017; Mushtaq et al., 2015; Schomerus et al., 2011; Corrigan et al., 2009a). Research in this area provides context for the discussed themes of the model to explain the distinct view of SUD.

The concept of perceived danger was viewed to see how this impacted stigma. Dangerousness was viewed as the most important factor contributing to opiate use stigma, even when compared to other constructs such as contagion, morality, views toward treatment, and blame-worthiness (Mushtaq et al., 2015). Heroin users were regarded highly on a dangerousness scale when compared to conditions like depression and diabetes. Comparisons looking at "harder" drugs (such as heroin) versus "softer" drugs (such as marijuana) found negligible differences in views of dangerousness (Sorsdahl et al., 2012), suggesting that drug type does not significantly change these perceptions. These findings suggest that dangerousness is likely one distinctive perception contributing toward the unique views of opiate users and SUD overall.

Blameworthiness and contagion are factors that are proposed to relate to OUD in some ways and to SUD overall. Blame suggests that those with SUD have a hand in the development of their disorder, while contagion considers stigma based on whether an individual with an illness is likely to pass a communicable disease onto others based on their status. Heroin users were found significantly more to blame for their condition than other mental illnesses (Yang et al., 2017; Mushtaq et al., 2015; Thege et al., 2015; Crisp et al., 2005). Contagion was also a

significant predictor of stigma, perhaps due to the association of related illnesses to intravenous transmission such as hepatitis and HIV (Mushtaq et al., 2015). While diagnoses such as schizophrenia were low on a scale of blame, heroin use was high (Mushtaq et al., 2015). This provides additional information that may suggest why substance use is viewed independently from the larger category of mental illness.

While being subject to higher blame, drug users were also seen as more in control of their illness and less capable of benefiting from treatment (Mushtaq et al., 2015). These indicators of blame and treatability suggest a common belief held by the public that individuals with OUD have chosen to use drugs, making them culpable in their diagnosis. Another study showed that respondents believed that OUD was low in treatability, similar to beliefs about ongoing criminality (Crespo et al., 2008). Illnesses like depression and anxiety were shown to have much a higher believed ability to recover. This may speak to the public's view that substance users are incapable of being helped by medical or psychological intervention and further suggests that substance use is on par with criminal activity, which is typically seen as immoral. However, the research on treatability is not conclusive. Contrary findings indicated that those with SUD could recover without treatment if they wanted to (Crisp et al., 2005; Crisp et al., 2000). This belief can be a double-edged sword for stigma, suggesting blame for diagnosis and viewing continued use as an unwillingness to recover. The dichotomy in beliefs about treatability provide support for the "why try" mentality that is often described by opiate users (Crapanzano et al., 2022; Scorsone et al., 2020). This implies that the effects of stigma are so enduring, those impacted can often feel that no matter what path they choose, they are judged (Conner et al., 2008).

Immorality is a common association with drug use. This can lead to assumptions that those with OUD lack an ability to make good decisions for themselves. Views of immortality

were shown to significantly account for variation in stigma toward heroin users (Mushtaq et al., 2015). Paternalistic views about those who use substances are related to the perception of immorality. For example, those with cocaine use disorder were thought to be unlikely to make beneficial treatment or financial decisions when compared with other mental illnesses such as schizophrenia, major depression, and alcohol dependence (Yang et al., 2017). This may suggest a marked differentiation in how the public views drug versus alcohol use disorders. Drug use is typically viewed more harshly than alcohol due to social acceptance, accessibility, and legality. This may be due to the proximity of drugs to illegal behavior, as the label of "criminal" has been viewed even more harshly than drug use (Mushtaq et al., 2015). Most people may be able to say they know someone who drinks too much, it is less common to know someone with a drug use disorder. With millions of individuals effected by substance use, this is more likely to be due to concealment due to feared effects of stigma rather than simple lack of encounters with this population. This attitude and the concealment of identity extends the "us versus them" mentality due to lack of familiarity with individuals who have struggled with drug use. This has been shown to lead to elevated feelings of stigma (Witte et al., 2019) and perceptions that those with SUD are immoral, less rational, and naturally exist in tandem with criminal behavior (Yang et al., 2017). Due to the public's largely negative views on those with OUD and drug use disorders generally, individuals may hide their identity to shield themselves from the effects of discrimination. By doing so, they are often more susceptible to the increasing severity of their diagnosis without treatment.

Impacts of Stigma

Once negative attributes are associated with all members of a group, stereotyping and discrimination often result. One of the most devastating impacts of stigma is that of treatment

avoidance. When individuals anticipate stigma, they often cope by avoiding institutions or groups where stigma may be enacted. They also can internalize stigma, which often leads to isolation and avoidance of vital services.

A significant number of those seeking treatment have reported the experience of one or more kinds of stigma (Crapanzano et al., 2022). Institutional, social, and self-stigma have all been associated with reduced treatment-seeking and adherence (Crapanzano et al., 2022; Sanders et al., 2013; Frank, 2011). Self-stigma has been linked with greater disorder severity, decreased self-efficacy, lower confidence in recovery, and higher drug cravings. The use of stigmatizing language, such as being referred to as an "addict", has been related to lower treatment commitment and completion (Grønnestad & Sagvaag, 2016).

Although there are several efficacious treatments for OUD, even they are not immune to the impacts of stigma. In fact, experiences of social and self-stigma have been shown to influence patient's medication assisted treatment beliefs and adherence (Sanders et al., 2013).

Treatment for OUD

The U.S. Food and Drug Administration has approved several medications for opiate use disorder (mOUD) such as methadone (a full opioid agonist) and buprenorphine (a partial opioid agonist) (Tai et al., 2013). In the literature, these are interchangeably referred to as medication-assisted treatment (MAT), which will be how it is referred to within this text. Both buprenorphine and methadone have established clinical utility, showing significant benefits such as reduced withdrawal symptoms, illicit drug use, mortality, and incidence of communicable diseases such as HIV and hepatitis C, while showing increased employment and treatment adherence rates (The American Society of Addiction Medicine, 2017; Mattick et al., 2014; NIDA, 2021).

Methadone is a full μ-opioid agonist that must be administered in a certified treatment center by directly observed administration per federal mandates (Matusow et al., 2014). Methadone maintenance therapy (MMT) was introduced in the 1970's and remains the most readily available medication for OUD (Mattick et al., 2014). It has the longest history of effective treatment but is limited due to the restriction of daily trips to the clinic for dosing. Buprenorphine (brand names Suboxone or Subutex) is a partial μ-opioid agonist that is typically prescribed in an outpatient office for ongoing maintenance therapy (Matusow et al., 2014). Suboxone has the addition of naloxone, which is an opiate antagonist used to cause precipitated withdrawal when there is misuse (Tai et al., 2013). This combats the issue of diversion and makes it preferable to methadone in some cases (Walker et al., 2018). Buprenorphine also strongly binds to the μ-receptor without providing the euphoric effects of a traditional agonist. This prevents other opiate medications from being able to attach and provide an effect, which decreases motivation and reinforcement effects (Tai et al., 2013). It is said to have less abuse potential than methadone due to these factors.

There are significant barriers to treatment that an individual might encounter for these evidence-based approaches, including healthcare, insurance, transportation, and financial issues (Walker et al., 2018). Perhaps the most insidious is the potential for factors like stigma to prevent patients from wanting to initiate on lifesaving treatments due to disapproval from friends, family, and healthcare providers. Despite mitigated risk concerns and considerable treatment gains, these medications remain inexplicably controversial.

MAT Stigma

MAT is the standard of care for OUD, but patients are often resistant to initiation and cite stigma as a significant concern (Scorsone et al., 2020; Woo et al., 2017). There is an institutional

and social level stigma that assumes the choice to initiate on MAT is no different than active drug use (Sharp et al., 2021; Woo et al., 2017). This idea continues despite data showing that these medications often reinforce ongoing psychosocial therapies, require routine urine drug screens, and increase treatment retention (Murphy & Polsky, 2016; Scorsone et al., 2020). Perhaps due to their proximity to illicit drug use, many still think of these medications as another way to get high or "replacing one drug for another" (Scorsone et al., 2020). Studies investigating MAT stigma showed that 89% of respondents had people in their lives that disapproved of their maintenance therapy (Woo et al., 2017). The most common experiences included family (56%), friends (33%), and healthcare workers (44%). This may be because methadone's chemical structure mimics other synthetic opioids with full access to the mu-receptor, such as Percocet or Oxycontin. There is a concern that methadone does little to curb concomitant illicit drug use, while buprenorphine is seen as having a more active role in blocking the euphoric effects of fullagonist substances like pain medications or heroin (Woo et al., 2017). Although both have been shown to substantially reduce mortality, methadone patients have been found to have higher rates of overdose than buprenorphine partially due to this ability and a generally more severe profile of opiate use (Bell et al., 2009; The American Society of Addiction Medicine, 2017).

Some medical and 12-step communities also may see MAT as a way to maintain active drug use (Scorsone et al., 2020). This reveals a discouraging truth about community perceptions related to opiate misuse, where those who do choose maintenance therapy are likely to be judged despite sustained abstinence from illicit drugs. This can lead to patients hiding their MAT status from those close to them, despite organizations like Narcotics Anonymous requesting total honesty with peers as a protective factor in sobriety (Scorsone et al., 2020). These divisive elements can lead patients to feel that they are still on the outskirts of society, keeping secrets,

and taking a medication that no one knows about (albeit one that is taken as prescribed). It is easy to see how this could be traumatic and might mirror the state of active drug use for them, thus being aversive or even increasing risk of relapse. Overall, stigmatizing those who are trying to mitigate the impact of their OUD leads to a revolving door phenomenon and ultimately increases adverse outcomes. This can be especially true for those with intersecting marginalized identities and compounded barriers to treatment, such as women.

Women and Stigma

The opiate epidemic did not spare any one group, but women were especially susceptible to its impacts. Opiate-related deaths have increased by 642% for women, compared to 439% for men since 1999 (NIDA, 2020), and over 15,000 women died from opiate overdose in 2019 (CDC, 2021). This increase in opiate use is due to a multitude of factors that influenced women, such as: higher reported chronic pain, a higher likelihood of receiving prescriptions for opiates for conditions where it has not been shown efficacious (shown especially likely with age), and a higher tendency to be prescribed opiates in combination with other medications such as benzodiazepines, which increases susceptibility to dependence and overdose (Goetz et al., 2021). Women are not only subject to these susceptibility factors, but also experience more acute negative impacts from opiate use. There is research to suggest that women take less time to progress from casual use to dependency and develop more physiological complications with lower use than their male counterparts (Hernandez-Avila et al., 2004; SAMHSA, 2009). Men and women respond disparately to drug-cue imagery, which has been shown to cause greater subjective heroin craving, cardiovascular changes, and reported sadness in women (Back et al., 2005; Yu et al., 2007). Women are also more susceptible to the short- and long-term

consequences of substance abuse, causing psychiatric, medical, parental, and employment complications.

Not only are there notable differences in the susceptibility for OUD that differ by gender, but also in discrepancies related to stigma. While roughly the same number of men and women are diagnosed with an OUD, only half the number of women seek treatment (Goodyear et al., 2018). This is especially striking because women are more likely to be proactive in seeking help for other mental and physical health issues (Thompson et al., 2016). A synthesis of qualitative research in this area concluded that 97% of studies found that women who use drugs are subject to higher stigma, identified as the most significant barrier to treatment for them (Fiddian-Green et al., 2019, Lefebvre et al., 2020; Madden et al., 2021). The literature on stigma in quantitative research, however, is mixed in terms of gender and stigma. A recent analysis showed that there was no significant association between drug use stigma and gender (Meyer et al., 2021). Some research indicates that men are more likely to be judged negatively for their drug use (Keyes et al., 2010), while women are more likely to receive sympathy, concern, and helping behavior (Wirth and Bodenhausen, 2009). It is possible that there is an ingrained protective and sympathetic mentality toward women who use drugs (Kulesza et al., 2016; Schiff et al., 2022). While there is mixed evidence to support the idea that women are more likely to experience stigma with drug use, this indecision endures only to the point of conception (Stone, 2015; Huhn & Dunn, 2020; Weber et al., 2021). At that point, stigma is highly likely and is reported to be very severe.

Pregnant and parenting women with OUD and stigma

The number of pregnant women with opiate use disorder has greatly increased in recent years. According to the CDC, the number of women with opiate related diagnoses at delivery

skyrocketed 131% from 2010 to 2017 (2021). Women are most likely to develop a substance use disorder between the ages of 18 to 29, which overlaps with prime fertility and remains at an elevated risk throughout their reproductive years (Prince & Ayers, 2019). This growing population is particularly vulnerable to relapse, stigmatization, and medical mistreatment while commonly dealing with trauma, isolation, psychiatric comorbidities, and resource scarcity.

Stigma is a serious threat to mother's psychological and physical well-being. It has been shown to not only encourage and amplify substance use (Kulesza et al., 2015), but is also cited as a primary reason woman do not seek vital obstetric and substance use services throughout and after gestation (Crawford et al., 2022). Women often manage their risk for detection by skipping appointments, isolating themselves, withholding information, or avoiding treatment to begin with (Stringer & Baker, 2018). There is also evidence to suggest that stigma during pregnancy is linked to post-natal relapse and overdose (Stone, 2015). The impact of stigma on women has been shown to potentiate existing symptoms, play a role in the development of avoidant-coping tactics, and increase risk for lifetime overdose rates (Stone, 2015).

Substance use stigma for women is often connected to concerns about pregnancy, motherhood, and child-rearing. Society tends to place a higher emphasis on women's reproductive roles, and substance use is perceived as a risk to the health and well-being of the woman and her children. There is a perception that these women are rejecting gender normative behavior as protective mothers and caregivers, which elicits a strong emotional response (Schiff et al., 2022; Derkas, 2011). Stereotypes reinforce this idea by assuming those with OUD are selfinvolved, destructive, and immoral caregivers. This is in direct contrast to what the identity of a mother is expected to look like: selfless, nurturing, and protective (Crawford et al., 2022). Women with children exist between these two prescribed identities, which may cause and

explain the increased stigma at all levels. These assumptions create the basis for isolation and discrimination that is reported in this population (Crawford et al., 2022). This can perhaps explain the discrepancy between a more sympathetic view of a childless woman versus a punitive attitude toward a mother.

MAT for this population provides improved short- and long-term outcomes and offers a chance at a higher quality of life for women and their families (Phillipi et al., 2021). However, women with children and OUD have significant barriers to obtaining treatment (Feder et al., 2018). Women are often the primary caregiver to their children and take on more household responsibilities, which can mitigate time and resources needed to initiate treatment (Gao et al., 2023; Barnett et al, 2021; Stewart et al., 2007). In addition, lack of childcare and fear of stigma have been cited as the most significant barriers to treatment in mothers, the latter of which is also associated with higher lifetime overdose incidents (Scheidell et al., 2022; Barnett et al., 2021; Elms et al., 2018). Mothers report a fear of reduced medical autonomy, legal involvement, and loss of parental rights due to stabilization on MAT and its implication of illicit drug use (Gao et al., 2023; Schiff et al., 2022). If mothers are able to overcome the significant barriers to seek MAT, they are then shown less likely to be offered MAT by their treating physician despite the association of post-natal support with higher adherence to MAT protocols, increased measures of family stability, and sustained abstinence (Gao et al., 2023; Crane et al., 2019). Given the complexity in identity for mothers with children and OUD who choose to stabilize on MAT, understanding the nuances of stigma for this unique population is vital to better support them.

Predicting Stigma

Research focusing on demographic predictors of stigma in childbearing women with OUD is untouched in the literature. However, certain demographic variables have been

researched to better understand their predictive ability for stigma within mental health and SUD broadly. There are mixed reports on whether men or women hold higher stigmatizing beliefs toward mental illness (Griffiths et al., 2008; Lauber et al., 2004; Barry et al., 2000; Chowdhury et al., 2000). Similarly, there has been inconclusive information about whether age has any relationship to attitudes toward mental health (Feeg et al., 2014; Griffiths et al., 2008; Pyne et al., 2004; Lauber et al., 2004; Chowdhury et al., 2000). However, there is evidence to suggest that those with lower levels of education, lower income, and those in rural areas tend to have higher negative beliefs about mental health (Adams et al., 2021; Feeg et al., 2014; Girma et al., 2013; Griffiths et al., 2008). These demographic determinants may point to systemic issues such as lower access to education and health care for certain groups that have a trickle-down effect on how stigma is enacted toward substance users.

The lack of certainty in demographic prediction can be due to factors that have been stronger in their predictive ability for stigma, such as social proximity and exposure. A desire for social distance is defined as an unwillingness to interact with those who have SUD (Yang et al., 2017; Marie & Miles, 2008). Social distance desires have been reported toward individuals with SUD due to previously discussed attributions such as dangerousness and immorality (Yang et al., 2017; Marie & Miles, 2008). Research suggests that the higher the attribution of danger or immorality, the greater the desire for social distance. Higher social distancing desires were shown for having an individual with SUD marry into one's family rather than have this individual as a neighbor (Committee on the Science of Changing Behavioral Health Social Norms et al., 2016; Mannarini & Boffo, 2015). Paradoxically, social distance desires are often reduced by contact with marginalized groups (Yang et al., 2017; Marie & Miles, 2008).

SUD, which is another significant predictor of stigma. Exposure has been shown to reduce discriminatory beliefs in a variety of stereotyped conditions (Buckwitz et al., 2023; Favre et al., 2023; Kennedy-Hendricks 2017; 2016; Deacon & Boulle, 2007). If individuals do not have anyone in their life impacted by SUD, they are more likely to stigmatize and desire social distance from them. Although there is a lack of research in this area on mothers with OUD, these women often experience self-stigma and self-imposed social distance due to the high stakes involved with their status disclosure. Therefore, individuals have fewer opportunities to have personal experiences with them that would reduce discriminatory and stereotypical beliefs. In order to increase comfort with exposure and promote social proximity in this population, stigma needs to be defined, better understood, and mitigated.

The Current Study

The current study aims to investigate predictors of stigma toward a vignette about a woman who has a child and is stabilized on MAT. The current literature shows an established stigma toward opiate use, medication assisted therapy, and women who are pregnant, but there has been no investigation on views of women with children who are maintained on MAT. It is important to understand the general public's view on this distinction as opiate use treatment becomes increasingly prevalent and issues involved in medication initiation becomes more nuanced with certain populations. This study hopes to provide insight on what characteristics are more or less likely to indicate higher stigma toward a MAT-stabilized mother.

Hypotheses

Based on the literature reviewed above, it is hypothesized that:

1. There will be a positive correlation between the public's perception of general stigma toward those with substance use disorders (as measured by the general Perceived

•

Stigma of Addiction scale) (general PSAS) and stigma specific to a female-focused vignette about substance use and recovery with MAT (as measured by the personal Perceived Stigma of Addiction Scale) (personal PSAS).

- There will not be an association between mental health stigma (as measured by the Attitudes Toward Mental Illness Questionnaire) (AMIQ) and stigma toward a femalefocused vignette about opiate use and recovery with MAT (as measured by the personal PSAS).
- Gender differences will be explored as a predictor of stigma toward a woman with OUD stabilized on medication assisted therapy.
- 4. The presence or absence of children will be explored as a predictor of stigma toward a woman stabilized on MAT.
- 5. Interactions between kids, gender, and general mental health stigma will be explored when predicting stigma toward an MAT-stabilized mother.
- 6. The most important predictor of stigma based on the independent variables will be identified.

Chapter II

Methods

Participants

Participants were eligible if they were 18 years old or older, lived in the United States, and spoke English fluently. Exclusionary criteria included individuals who had personal experiences with substance use disorder (including those who have SUD or family members and close friends with SUD), as the aim of the study was to assess stigma of the general public without the influencing effects of anecdotal experience. There were 254 participants included in data analysis for this study. On average they were 36.16 years old (SD = 12.51). Complete demographic data participants can be found in Table 1.

Individuals were recruited through Prolific, a newer crowdsourcing research platform that was founded in 2014. Data collection happened in two different phases as a more comprehensive understanding of Prolific's guidelines was gained. The first 38 participants with usable data were recruited through a series of preliminary questions that did not include a Prolific prescreen, but an embedded set of questions to filter ineligible participants out through a Qualtrics survey. Phase one resulted in a large number of individuals being found ineligible (included, n=35; excluded, n=57).

Given the high number of ineligible individuals and prolific guidelines, an alternate screening procedure was utilized. Phase two contained a pre-screen through Prolific which allowed the PI to identify eligible individuals then invite them to complete the full online survey. Two rounds of pre-screen data collection were run where a total of 1,200 individuals were pre-

screened for eligibility. This resulted in a total of 589 individuals who would be eligible to participate in the full online survey and these individuals were sent a message on the prolific platform to invite them to participate. In total, 507 individuals provided usable data. The online questionnaire, on average, took 6.01 (SD=4.31) minutes to complete.

A total of 6 individuals were rejected for failure of attention check or not initiating the survey after consent. Commonly used in survey research to identify participants who are not attending to the questions, participants were given attention checks through an infrequency item ("I eat cement every day") and an instructed response item (Please answer "strongly agree" to this question to indicate you have read the question); Mead & Craig, 2012). If the participants answered attention check items incorrectly, they were excluded from compensation and data analysis. Participants were also excluded if <95% of data is provided.

Participants were compensated through the Prolific platform for completing the survey. This study did not collect identifiable information and any third-party information associated with an individual's survey account was on Prolific and was only accessible by the vendor. Compensation was in the amount of \$.25 for the pre-screen and \$3.00 for the study for all participants who were eligible and met aforementioned criteria. Participants who did not meet eligibility criteria had their screening data deleted.

Measures

Data on drug use stigma is relatively new in the area of research, and measures used to capture this construct are inconsistent across the literature (Luoma et al., 2013). Once recruited through Prolific, users who read the consent, met criteria, and were interested in participating were guided to an online Qualtrics survey where a demographic questionnaire and several drug use stigma questionnaires were administered.

Demographics

Participants completed a demographics questionnaire which gathered data regarding their gender identity, age range, race, and number of children (see Appendix A).

Attitudes to Mental Illness Questionnaire

To measure general mental illness stigma, the Attitudes to Mental Illness Questionnaire (AMIQ) (Luty et al., 2006) was used (see Appendix A). In this survey, five items are scored on a one to six scale and the total score is calculated as the sum of all responses, providing a minimum of -10 and a maximum of +10, with positive ten indicating the least stigma.

This measure has established stability, showing robust test-retest reliability and face, construct, and criterion validity in depressive, self-harming, and substance using populations (Luty et al., 2006). This scale has also been used in recent vignette research about MAT stigma (Deng et al., 2022).

The AMIQ's five-items were given to all participants and had a Chronbach's alpha in this population of .69. Limitations of the alpha for the measure in this sample are considered below. The AMIQ will be interchangeably referred to as general mental health stigma.

Perceived Stigma of Addiction Scale

Together with the AMIQ, the Perceived Stigma of Addiction Scale (PSAS) was administered to distinguish drug use stigma from general mental health stigma, (Luoma et al., 2011) (see Appendix B). This eight-item-scale measures prevalence of stigmatizing beliefs toward substance use, where a higher score indicates a more frequent negative attitude toward those with substance use issues. This scale is scored using a four-point Likert scale ranging from strongly disagree to strongly agree, where a final scale is composited ranging from 8 to 32. Higher scores are indicative of greater stigma in the test taker (Luoma et al., 2011). There are several items that are reversed scored to reduce straight-line responding.

This scale has established adequate face validity, construct validity, and internal consistency (Luoma et al., 2011; Tuliao & Holyoak, 2022). It has also been positively correlated with stigma associated with seeking help for mental health issues and attitudes about risk for treatment seeking (Tuliao & Holyoak, 2022). This measure has been used in stigma research about addiction relating to methadone maintenance, which showed requisite construct validity and reliability (Stockton et al., 2021). This scale was used in its original form to capture how individuals think most people would feel about someone with a substance use disorder. It was also used in a modified format for use in this study to understand how participants personally feel after reading each vignette by changing the format to first person.

The PSAS was given in the two described iterations, hereby referred to as personal PSAS (indicator of personal feelings of stigma toward SUD) and general PSAS (indicator of what people think most feel toward SUD (see Appendix B). Both versions had 8-items and were given to all participants, resulting in a Cronbach's alpha of .87 (personal) and .78 (general). These provided evidence of adequate reliability in this sample.

Procedure

Prior to data collection, this study was reviewed by the IRB and approved. Once participants met inclusionary criteria and answered the demographic questionnaire, they were given the PSAS to assess how they think most people feel about certain aspects of drug use. Participants were then randomized to a treatment condition (women with children or women with no children) where they were shown a vignette describing a woman followed by a modified version of the PSAS and the Attitudes to Mental Illness Questionnaire (AMIQ) (see Measures).

This process was repeated with a second vignette and the same survey items. Vignettes, which were based on work by Deng and colleagues (2022), can be found in Appendix D.

Two hypothetical individuals were described in the vignettes based on which child-status group the participant was randomized to. One group described vignettes which were both about women who have a child, but their preferred substance use treatment differs. One was described as opting for medication assistance (MAT) as her treatment of choice, while the control vignette attends Narcotic's Anonymous (NA) meetings. The other group included women who did not have children and had differing SUD treatment paths. Respondents were given a briefing on what treatment typically looks for both MAT and 12-step treatment to ensure that participants are informed before proceeding with their opinions on each hypothetical description (See Appendix C). After completing the two vignettes and related questionnaires, participants were thanked for their participation, debriefed (see Appendix E), and directed back to Prolific to be compensated

It should be noted that the data that is being used in this study is a subset of data from the larger study that utilized four-vignettes (see Appendix D). Participant recruitment and completion occurred as described above, however, during data collection, there was an error in Qualtric's recording process that caused the second PSAS to overwrite the initial survey. Although the PI made several attempts to reach out to Qualtrics technical help to ensure successful randomization and survey set up, the data were not recoverable resulting in only usable data on only two of the vignettes (the data that was usable was not comparable as they were from different randomized conditions). Based on the literature reviewed above and the available data, study hypotheses were developed to explore the predictors of stigma for MAT toward women with children.

Chapter III

Results

Before running any analysis to test the study hypothesis, data were screened and checked for normalcy. There was only one missing data point on one measure, which was replaced using mean item replacement. There were 22 (general PSAS), 17 (personal PSAS), and 15 (AMIQ) univariate outliers. There were 18 multivariate outliers, 16 of whom were univariate on at least one scale and were deleted. The remaining univariate outliers were windsorized to maintain sample size.

For the purpose of analysis, the categories of education, gender, and race were recategorized. Gender (male and female) and race (white and non-white) were dichotomized, while education was broken into three groups (some college or lower, college educated, and graduate education). Although data was initially collected to capture a more diverse array of ethnic and gender identities, 66.1% of this sample identified as Caucasian and a majority identified as male (50%) and female (43.7%). Given that a majority of the sample had graduate education (16.5%), college education (45.7%), or some college experience (18.9%), the remaining categories were a minority. To better compare groups, the categories were broken down to three larger categories (for demographic breakdown see Table 1).

While age was not found to significantly correlate with any measure of stigma, there was a statistically significant difference between education groups when measuring general stigma (F(2,71.5) = 3.76, p < .05). A Tukey post-hoc test revealed that those individuals in who had a high school diploma, GED or some college rated significantly lower general stigma (*M*=21.78,

SD=3.02) compared to the college-educated group (M=22.97, SD=3.29). There was no statistical significance between any other levels of education for any other measures of stigma. An independent samples t-test was run and indicated that the general SUD stigma did not show significant between group differences (-.329(252) =4.178, p =.371). However, the AMIQ, t(252) =2.01, p < .05, and personal PSAS did show between group differences, t(252) =-2.63, p < .01. On the AMIQ, Caucasians (M = 2.33, SD = 2.43) were shown to rate significantly less stigma than their non-white counterparts (M=1.70, SD=2.29). On the personal PSAS, Caucasians (M=16.65, SD=4.26) were shown to rate stigma significantly lower than their non-white counterparts (M=17.90, SD=3.13).

To test the first hypothesis (the association between general and personal stigma), a Pearson's bivariate correlation was conducted. As can be seen in Table 3, general and personal beliefs about stigma were correlated, r = .180, p < .01. However, general mental health as measured by the AMIQ (M=2.12, SD=2.40) did not correlate significantly with either general or personal PSAS scores.

To address the relationship between gender and types of stigma in this sample, an independent samples t-test was run. Results indicated that there were no significant differences found between groups, however, the personal PSAS did approach significance, t(236) = 1.91, p = .057, with women (M=16.71, SD=3.80) rating lower stigma in this index than men (M=17.67, SD=3.90). General PSAS, t(236) = 1.002, p = .317, and AMIQ, t(236) = .193, p = .343, were not statistically significant between men and women.

To analyze whether there was a difference in kinds of stigma in those with and without children, an independent samples t-test was run. The personal PSAS showed significant group differences, t(200) = -3.50, p < .001. For this measure, those with one child or more indicated

higher stigma (M=19.06, SD=3.57) than those who had no children (M=16.53, SD=3.88). Due to these results, a post-hoc test was run to see if questions pertaining to children were significant. An independent samples t-test comparing child status groups and their views on questions specific to children on the PSAS (items 3 and 4) was run (see Appendix B). Analyses revealed between group differences for the personal iteration of item three, t(252)=-3.70, p <.001, and four t(-252)=,-3.61 p <.001. For item three, those without children (M=2.42, SD=.71) rated significantly lower on stigma than those with children (M=2.78, SD=.79). For item four, those without kids (M=2.35, SD=.72) showed significantly lower rated stigma than those with children (M=2.70, SD=.74).

Several moderation analyses were performed to test the covariates of gender, child-status, or general SUD stigma to predict personal stigma. Preliminary analyses were conducted to ensure there were no violations of the assumptions of normality, linearity, and homoscedasticity. In each of these models, the main effects were put into step one and the interaction effects in step two. The first regression was calculated to predict personal PSAS scores based on AMIQ scores and child-status. Child-status and AMIQ did not report a significant proportion of variance in personal PSAS scores, R^2 =.040, F(3,250)=3.434, p=.457). A second hierarchical multiple regression was used to predict personal PSAS based on AMIQ and gender. Gender and AMIQ did not report a significant proportion of variance in personal PSAS scores, R^2 =.018, F(3,234)=1.398, p=.244). A final hierarchical multiple regression was tested to predict personal PSAS based on general PSAS and AMIQ scores. General PSAS and AMIQ did not report a significant proportion of variance in personal PSAS based on general PSAS and AMIQ scores. General PSAS and AMIQ did not report a significant proportion of variance in personal PSAS personal PSAS and AMIQ bit personal PSAS and AMIQ did not report a significant proportion of variance in personal PSAS and AMIQ did not report a significant proportion of variance in personal PSAS and AMIQ did not report a significant proportion of variance in personal PSAS and AMIQ did not report a significant proportion of variance in personal PSAS and AMIQ did not report a significant proportion of variance in personal PSAS and AMIQ did not report a significant proportion of variance in personal PSAS, R^2 =.033, F(3,250)=2.822, p=.894).

A simultaneous-entry multiple regression analysis was used to test if measures of stigma via general PSAS, AMIQ, and child-status significantly predicted participant's ratings of

personal PSAS. The results of the regression model with three predictors produced R^2 =.069, F(3, 271.031) = 6.147, p < .001. As seen in table 4, general PSAS (*Beta*= .177, t(253)=2.897, p < .01) and child-status (*Beta*=.190, t(253)=3.109, p < .01) were statistically significant predictors to this model, while AMIQ was not (*Beta*=.026, t(253)=.427, p=.670). Part and partial correlations can be seen in table 4. The largest contributor to personal SUD stigma was child-status (3.72%), followed by general PSAS (3.24%) and AMIQ (.0289%).

Chapter IV

Discussion

The misuse of opioids has led to a significant public health crisis characterized by rising rates of dependence, overdoses, and devastating societal consequences. Those with OUD have faced stigma historically and continue to be discriminated against whether in or out of treatment.

This stigma often exists within institutional and social spheres, and leads to strong feelings of self-stigma within those impacted. Corrigan's attribution model conceptualizes the presence and intensity of this stigma toward SUD through themes of dangerousness, blameworthiness, contagion, treatability and immorality (2003). As a result, individuals may feel isolated, ashamed, and reluctant to seek treatment, which can further perpetuate the disorder, lead to lower treatment seeking, and impact efficacy of outcomes (Luoma, 2011). This can be especially true with marginalized groups such as women, those with children, and those who take medication in the context of recovery. This study was about the interlap between these identities with the hope to gain a better understanding of how mothers stabilized on MAT are seen by the general public and gain insight about predictors of stigma.

The data used for this study included a sample of younger, majority Caucasian, and highly educated men and women. Due to these factors, demographic categories were dichotomized with the exception of education, which was broken down into three groups. Our analyses showed that age as a predictor did not have a relationship to rated stigma in any of the three surveys, which is consistent with others studies (Griffiths et al., 2008; Robb et al., 2010).

However, education was a significant predictor, showing that college educated participants were more likely to think that the general SUD stigma would be higher than their peers with less education. It has also been shown that those with less education are more likely to have experienced drugs and alcohol compared to those with higher education (Wills et al., 1995). Given this, it could be that those who come from a lower educational background may be immersed in an environment where drug use is more commonplace than those with higher education, aligning with the idea that familiarity reduces stigma (Kennedy-Hendricks et al., 2022; Yang et al., 2017; Marie & Miles, 2008). Since the general PSAS was an indicator of what most people think, these results may also imply that those who are college educated have had more exposure to media, research, or literature about substance use stigma. With high relapse rates reported for OUD and the common association with drug use and illegal activity, individuals could deduce that most people would associate these behaviors with deviance (Chalana et al., 2015; Strain, 2002).

Examination of ethnicity also showed significant differences, indicating that white participants rated general mental health (AMIQ) and personal OUD stigma (personal PSAS) for the vignette lower than other ethnicities. There were no significant differences for general SUD stigma (general PSAS) between ethnicities. Asians (13.4%), Hispanic (7.5%), and black (7.1%) participants were the highest identified ethnicities in the non-white categorization in this study. These results are consistent with prior research demonstrating that black, Asian, and Hispanic communities generally show a less positive attitude about mental health treatment than their white counterparts (Latalova et al., 2014; Jang et al., 2011; Conner et al., 2009; Atkinson & Gim, 1989). The erasure of all identities under the umbrella of "non-white" is an unsophisticated way to look at ethnicity and its influence on stigma. Factors such as generational trauma, medical

distrust, and reduced access to resources that are associated with minority status can account for some of the discrepancy in views of general mental health and opiate use.

Research suggests SUD is typically seen as distinct from other mental health conditions (Yang et al., 2017; Mushtaq et al., 2015). This is partially because substance use tends to be seen as a mental illness with a sense of culpability due to an individual's initial choice to either use or deny drugs. Those without a more researched point of view on the development of SUDs may assume that lack of self-control is indicative of character rather than drug-induced neuroplasticity. Results concurred with these prior findings as the measure of general mental health beliefs (AMIQ) was not found to correlate with either personal OUD stigma (personal PSAS) nor projected SUD (general PSAS) stigma. The interaction between covariates was also explored when predicting stigma toward the mother in the vignette. Results indicated that General PSAS accounted for a significant amount of variation in personal PSAS, but AMIQ did not. Our results may suggest that general beliefs about SUD significantly predict personal OUD beliefs in MAT stabilized women with children. This may provide evidence for the idea that mental illness is distinctive from both substance use and opiate use more specifically. However, general and personal PSAS were also correlated, suggesting that personal OUD beliefs and predicted beliefs about SUD were related. This may be understood in a similar way to social stigma impacting individual level stigma. Prevailing societal attitudes toward SUD could influence personal beliefs about OUD by supplying a normalized environment that is discriminatory toward these diagnoses on the social and institutional level.

This study did exploratory analyses to understand gender as a predictor of stigma toward the vignette. The analyses revealed only marginally significant results suggesting that women had lower ratings of personal opiate use stigma (personal PSAS) than their male counterparts.

There were no significant differences in SUD stigma for general substance use (general PSAS) or mental health stigma (AMIQ). The literature suggests that gender being predictive of substance use stigma are unclear at best, with many conflicting results reported depending on outcome measures (Griffiths et al., 2008; Lauber et al., 2004; Barry et al., 2000; Chowdhury et al., 2000). (Loffler et al., 2023). Characteristics such as gender and age may not be the strongest predictors of stigma due to the evidence supporting Corrigan's attribution model (2003) and relevant predictive factors such as social proximity and distance (Yang et al., 2017; Mushtaq et al., 2015). Those engaging in activities such as crime and drug use may inspire feelings of fear and blame (Yang et al., 2017; Mushtaq et al., 2015; Schomerus et al., 2011), which promotes an "us versus them" mentality, especially for those who have not had contact with individuals with OUD (Crapanzo et al., 2018). Individuals may feel a more visceral disapproval toward opiate users and less of a connection toward the commonalities they may have with the vignette (such as gender). They may also have pre-existing associations of dangerousness and blame based on social and institutional stigma. This is often maintained by the news, media, and literature that endure regardless of age or gender, underscoring Corrigan's attributions of how stigma is perpetuated.

Child-status was explored as a predictor of the three kinds of stigma. Our results suggested that those with children were more likely to have stigmatizing feelings about the mother with OUD in the vignette, but not about general mental health or substance use. When looking at items on the PSAS associated with teaching or being in charge of children, this idea was further underscored by those with children endorsing higher personal feelings of stigma toward the vignette. The interaction between kids, gender, and general mental health stigma was also explored when predicting stigma toward the MAT-stabilized woman in the vignette. Our

results indicated that child-status was the most significant predictor to personal OUD stigma, followed by general SUD stigma. This emphasizes the connection of stigma at the institutional and societal level impacting personal beliefs about opiate use disorder. This shows that childstatus was the greatest predictor of negative feelings toward mothers with OUD who are taking MAT. Mothers who struggle with substance use may be seen as especially deviant given their perceived failure to live up to social expectations (Crawford et al., 2022). Women with OUD may represent assumptions of immorality, dangerousness, and selfishness that are contrary to how mothers are typically viewed in our society (Schiff et al., 2021; Yang et al., 2017; Kennedy Hendricks 2017, 2016; Corrigan et al., 2003). It was found that those with a child rated questions about caretaking or teaching with significantly higher stigma than those without children. The same concept of protection and nurturance that mothers with OUD are judged for is likely what is fueling higher stigma toward an educator or caregiver with such a history. Parents may feel a sense of superiority and anger that they are able to balance the difficulties of their lives without drug use, while the vignette was not able to do so. There may also be a sense of trepidation about the high relapse rates for OUD, often described as a chronically relapsing condition. With relapse rates as high as 88% after 36 months (Chalana et al., 2015; Strain, 2002), parents may feel the cost of trust is too high when dealing with their children's health and well-being. Due to the vignette's inability to take care of her son at one time due to drugs, this may be interpreted as a similarly "stained" reputation as a fit mother or caretaker. This suggests that her own societally sanctioned duty to nurture and protect her child was neglected, which may be interpreted to parents as a moral failing and inability to be relied on. Another implication to consider is that of stigma and abstinence. The vignette in this study was described as being abstinent from illicit drugs for several years. However, stigma toward her in the context of caretaking and childcare

were significant. Research suggests that even after prolonged abstinence, the impacts of substance use stigma tend to linger (Lee & Boeri, 2017; Link et al., 1997).

Strengths and Limitations

One notable strength of this study was data collection within the general population. Many studies in the stigma literature have focused on college-student's views or patient's self-stigma (Brown et al., 2015; Feeg et al., 2014; Latalova et al., 2014; Luoma et al., 2013; Corrigan et al., 2009a, 2003, 2001a, 2001b). By sampling within the general population, a better understanding of how stigma can be approached by those who are unaffected by substance use may be gained without the mitigating effects of exposure. This is especially relevant given information suggesting that those with a lack of knowledge and experience about a disorder tend to have higher stigmatizing beliefs, including higher fear and avoidance (Ross & Goldner, 2009).

Another strength was that this study was able to collect several indicators of stigma to compare, adding to the growing literature showing a distinction between mental health and substance use beliefs. Further, the study was specific to a vignette of a mother stabilized on MAT who was several years abstinent from illicit opiates. This stage in a mother's life in stigma research is not well-researched, as a majority focus remains on pregnancy (Crawford et al., 2022; Schiff et al., 2022; Zedler et al., 2016; Stone, 2015). It is important to learn more about this unique population's needs as they transition from weekly gynecological and substance use visits to much more infrequent care while balancing the new identity of being a mother, responsibility of a newborn, and continued necessities of recovery. New parents are at higher risk of relapse in the year after giving birth due to factors such sleep deprivation, lack of social support, increased responsibility, and postpartum pain and depression (Rankin et al., 2023). Therefore, a better

understanding of this population can help provide information about how to support the multifaceted aspects of their identity.

This study also had several limitations to consider. Despite the search for a broad array of participants, the participant pool tended toward majority demographics. The better part of this sample was white and well-educated. This may be due to the use of the crowdsourcing platform, and more generally online data collection, which limits participants to those with a computer who have knowledge of technology. This limits the generalizability of our results.

Further, the study design lacked a comparison group, which limited our ability to draw strong conclusions. Future research may focus on comparing women with OUD to different treatment groups to better compare how stigma varies between them. By doing so, more nuanced conclusions can be gathered about how stigma is enacted in perinatal mothers diagnosed with OUD.

Another limitation to consider was the AMIQ's low reliability coefficient. This may be because of the differing perspectives of the questions posed, switching between a first-person point of view and one that asks more generally if the woman in the vignette might be impacted. For example, someone might be comfortable having someone with an SUD over for dinner, but could still conceivably believe that having a history of drug use would damage her career due to knowledge of socially normative attitudes. Although this measure has been used in SUD-related vignette research and is reported to have good psychometric properties, there is no gold standard for comparing stigma measures (Luty et al., 2006). Therefore, the conclusions drawn about the AMIQ are limited and must be considered in the context of these psychometric properties.

Future research

It would be beneficial to focus on the public's view of women with children who are in recovery and how they are viewed due to ongoing stigma. The findings of this study suggest further questions about women and caregiving expectations as well as the lingering mark of stigma post-abstinence. Future research might focus on the general public's views of perinatal women before and after knowledge of diagnosis and recovery. Information about how long stigma lingers for mothers' post-abstinence would be valuable to collect to understand if this thinking is black and white or reduces as a function of time. Lastly, it would also be helpful to understand how Corrigan's attributions (2003) contribute to views of women with OUD, with and without children, to understand how children mediate the relationship to stigma in relationship to these variables. This may provide additional insight on whether these attributions are more strongly related to stigma due to women's status as a mother.

Clinical implications

In this study, substance use was shown to be a distinct category in recognition of stigma when compared to other mental illnesses. The implications of this align with early views of drug use, with substance use centers existing outside of the traditional medical care. This divisive mindset has continued to the present, although certain barriers such as insurance coverage and access to clinics has improved. Despite this, the view of substance use as dangerous, immoral, untreatable, disease-prone, and blameworthy has a heavy toll for those impacted. Self, social, and structural stigma have all been associated with poor outcomes for SUD treatment (Yang et al., 2017; Committee on the Science of Changing Behavioral Health Social Norms et al., 2016). For parenting women with OUD, this is especially severe. Due to the shame involved with these overlapping identities, treatment avoidance is common and puts the mother and child at risk (Crawford et al., 2022; Stone, 2015; Terplan et al., 2015; Friedman et al., 1998).

The Committee on the Science of Changing Behavioral Health Social Norms (2016) proposes evidence-based strategies to reduce stigma related to SUDs. These strategies encompass literacy programs, advocacy, contact-based initiatives, media campaigns, and peer support. Exposure and psychoeducation are shown to be particularly effective in diminishing stigma by engaging the public to increase awareness and knowledge about SUD. In order to make impacted individuals comfortable enough to surpass fears of status-exposure and selfstigma, a social level change in necessary. This can begin with small, everyday interactions, such as the choice to use less-stigmatizing language when talking about substance users. It must also happen at the level of large, intuitional-level change and policy reform. Medical professionals are individuals with significant influence who can provide proper education, screening, and intervention. Re-evaluating punitive laws stemming from structural stigma is vital to combatting OUD discrimination in the face of the opiate epidemic. The aim is for individuals impacted by substance use to share their experiences and reshape perceptions, thereby lessening the perceived harm and immorality associated with substance use through personal connections and understanding. Through these means, it is hoped that individuals are able to speak out and provide a different narrative about the unique challenges of OUD in the context of motherhood. By doing so, the perceived dangerousness and immorality of associated with these intersecting identities may be dampened through personal connection and compassion.

It could also be beneficial to implement psychoeducation about gender differences, MAT, and the impact it has on recovery statistics. Current media depictions of OUD tend to be bleak and focus on sensationalism. A focus on different types of individuals impacted by OUD can help change the narrative and provide a more varied sense of what recovery can look like. MAT adherence can reduce relapse rates by up to 10 times, and studies show sustained abstinence in

up to 75% in some populations at a 1-year follow up (Velander, 2018). Overcoming MAT stigma and providing more context about its benefits can help instill confidence in an individual's ability to recover. This can combat the perception that MATs are equivalent to illicit drug use, which could increase the number of individuals with OUD who consider MAT, and decrease the number of individuals in their lives that stigmatized this decision. There is also a need to provide psychoeducation at the institutional level, as medical providers remain unclear about the utility of this life-saving medication. Providing more information about the biological, psychological, and social aspects of substance use development and the benefits of treatment could instill confidence in the general public and those needing treatment. This could be a first step in addressing societal and self-stigma, while also changing the publicly held attributional beliefs about substance use such as dangerousness, contagion, blameworthiness, treatability and immorality.

Tables

Table 1.Demographic Characteristics of the Sample.

Gender Identity	Ν	%
Male	127	49.6
Female	112	43.8
Non-binary	8	3.1
Transgender	3	1.2
Gender non-conforming	2	.8
Prefer not to identify	4	1.6
Ethnicity		
Caucasian	170	66.4
Black	18	7.0
Hispanic	19	7.4
Native American	5	2.0
Asian	34	13.3
Mixed Race	7	2.7
Would prefer not to say	2	0.8
Other	1	0.4
Education		
Did not complete high school	15	5.9
High school or GED	22	8.6
Some college	48	18.8
College	118	46.1
Master's degree	42	16.4
PhD/MD/DO/JD or equivalent	10	3.9
Prefer not to say	1	0.4
Number of Children		
None	169	66.0
One	34	13.3
Two	38	14.8
Three	11	4.3
Four	3	1.2
Five or more	1	0.4

Note. For analyses involving Gender Identity, Ethnicity, Education, and Parental Status several categories needed to be collapsed based on distribution.

Table 2.

Measure Means and SD for Measures of Stigma

Measure	Mean	SD
PSAS (general)	22.43	3.09
PSAS (personal)	17.04	3.89
AMIQ	2.13	2.45

Note: PSAS=Perceived Stigma of Mental Illness Scale; AMIQ=Attitudes Toward Mental Illness Questionnaire.

Table 3.

Correlations for Measures of Stigma

		GenPSAS	AMIQ	PersPSAS
General	Pearson	1	.020	.180**
PSAS	Correlation			
	Sig. (2-tailed)		.750	.004
	Ν	254	254	254
AMIQ	Pearson	.020	1	.017
	Correlation			
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.750		.787
	Ν	254	254	254
Personal	Pearson	.180**	.017	1
PSAS	Correlation			
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.004	.787	
	Ν	254	254	254

Note: PSAS=Perceived Stigma of Mental Illness Scale; AMIQ=Attitudes

Toward Mental Illness Questionnaire. **=p<.01.

Table 4.

				Standardize					
				d					
		Unstand	lardized	Coefficient					
		Coeff	icients	S			C	Correlations	5
			Std.		-		Zero-		
Moc	lel	В	Error	Beta	t	Sig.	order	Partial	Part
1	(Consta	9.839	1.882		5.22	<.001			
	nt)				8	**			
	AMIQ	.043	.101	.026	.427	.670	.017	.027	.026
	General	.224	.077	.177	2.89	.004*	.180	.180	.177
	PSAS				7				
	Child-	1.584	.510	.190	3.10	.002*	.191	.193	.190
	status				9				

Regression Analysis for Covariates Predicting Personal Feelings of Substance Use Stigma

a. Dependent Variable: Personal PSAS

Note: PSAS=Perceived Stigma of Mental Illness Scale; AMIQ=Attitudes Toward Mental Illness Questionnaire. **=p<.01. *=p<.05.

APPENDICES

Appendix A: Attitudes to Mental Illness Questionnaire (AMIQ)

Instructions: Please read all the questions carefully and circle the option that suits your opinion

best.

- Do you think that this would damage this woman's career?
 Strongly agree⁻²/Agree⁻¹/Neutral⁰/Disagree⁺¹/Strongly disagree⁺²/Don't know⁰
- 2. I would be comfortable if this woman was my colleague at work.

Strongly agree⁺²/Agree⁺¹/Neutral⁰/Disagree⁻¹/Strongly disagree⁻²/Don't know⁰

3. I would be comfortable about inviting this woman to a dinner party.

Strongly agree⁺²/Agree⁺¹/Neutral⁰/Disagree⁻¹/Strongly disagree⁻²/Don't know⁰

4. How likely do you think it would be for this woman's partner to leave her?

Very likely⁻²/Quite likely⁻¹/Neutral⁰/Unlikely⁺¹/Very unlikely⁺²/Don't know⁰

5. How likely do you think it would be for this woman is to get in trouble with the law?

Very likely⁻²/Quite likely⁻¹/Neutral⁰/Unlikely⁺¹/Very unlikely⁺²/Don't know⁰

Appendix B: Perceived Stigma of Addiction Scale (General)

PSAS

Please read each statement carefully and circle the number below the item that indicates the degree of your agreement or disagreement with each statement. Please use the scale below, and please do not omit any item.

1. Most people would willingly accept someone who has been treated for substance use as a close friend.

1	2	3	4	
Strongly disagree	Disagree	Agree	Strongly agree	

Most people believe that someone who has been treated for substance use is just as trustworthy as the average citizen.

1	2	3	4
Strongly disagree	Disagree	Agree	Strongly agree

Most people would accept someone who has been treated for substance use as a teacher of young children in a public school.

1	2	3	4
Strongly disagree	Disagree	Agree	Strongly agree

4. Most people would hire someone who has been treated for substance use to take care of their children.

1	2	3	4
Strongly disagree	Disagree	Agree	Strongly agree

5. Most people think less of a person who has been in treatment for substance use.

1	2	3	4
Strongly disagree I	Disagree	Agree	Strongly agree

6. Most employers will hire someone who has been treated for substance use if he or she is qualified for the job.

1	2	3	4
Strongly disagree	Disagree	Agree	Strongly agree

Most employers will pass over the application of someone who has been treated for substance use in favor of another applicant.

1	2	3	4
Strongly disagree	Disagree	Agree	Strongly agree

8. Most people would be willing to date someone who has been treated for substance use.

1	2	3	4
Strongly disagree	Disagree	Agree	Strongly agree

Perceived Stigma of Addiction Scale

Personal belief

Please read each statement carefully and circle the number below the item that indicates the degree of your agreement or disagreement with each statement. Please use the scale below, and please do not omit any item.

 I would willingly accept someone who has been treated for substance use as a close friend.

Strongly disagree / Disagree / Agree Strongly / agree

2. I believe that someone who has been treated for substance use is just as trustworthy as the average citizen.

Strongly disagree / Disagree / Agree Strongly / agree

3. I would accept someone who has been treated for substance use as a teacher of young children in a public school.

Strongly disagree / Disagree / Agree Strongly / agree

4. I would hire someone who has been treated for substance use to take care of their children.

Strongly disagree / Disagree / Agree Strongly / agree

5. I think less of a person who has been in treatment for substance use.

Strongly disagree / Disagree / Agree Strongly / agree

6. I would hire someone who has been treated for substance use if he or she is qualified for the job.

Strongly disagree / Disagree / Agree Strongly / agree

7. I would pass over the application of someone who has been treated for substance use in

favor of another applicant.

Strongly disagree / Disagree / Agree Strongly / agree

8. I would be willing to date someone who has been treated for substance use.

Strongly disagree / Disagree / Agree Strongly / agree

Appendix C: OUD Treatment Information

Recent reports have stated that when people want to stop using prescribed or illicit opiate drugs, they may engage in some kind of help. Some people use medications, while others prefer psychosocial support. The following are common ways someone may engage in treatment:

1. Narcotics Anonymous (NA) is a 12-step program that was born from the success of Alcoholics Anonymous for those who are recovering from substances other than solely alcohol. Regular attendance is generally associated with improved outcomes. NA programs are abstinence oriented and foster a network of healthy social support for individuals in recovery.

2. Medication assisted therapy (MAT) refers to medications such as methadone or suboxone. These are medications given to those who are physically dependent on illicit or prescribed opiates who want to work toward recovery. Both medications help manage cravings, withdrawal symptoms, but do so more slowly than traditional opiate drugs, which reduces their potential for abuse. This making them ideal for use in long-term treatment of opiate use disorder.

Appendix D: Vignettes

- Woman with child taking MAT: Alisha is a 30-year-old female with an opiate use disorder. Five years ago, she was dependent on heroin and gradually lost interest in other activities in life. Because of her drug use, she lost her job and her ability to take care of her son. Three years ago, she went to the clinic and was put on a medication for opiate use disorder. In the past 3 years, she has taken her medication on time, not used heroin, sustained her employment and takes care of her son.
- Woman without child taking MAT: Alisha is a 30-year-old female with an opiate use disorder. Five years ago, she was dependent on heroin and gradually lost interest in other activities in life. Because of her drug use, she lost her job. Three years ago, she went to the clinic and was put on medication for opiate use disorder. In the past 3 years, she has taken her medication on time, has not used heroin, and is able to sustain her employment.
- Woman with child going to NA meetings: Maya is a 30-year-old female with an opiate use disorder. Five years ago, she was dependent on heroin and gradually lost interest in other activities in life. Because of her drug use, she lost her job. Three years ago, she started attending narcotic's anonymous meetings regularly. In the past 3 years, she has attended NA meetings regularly, not used heroin, sustained her employment, and takes care of her son.
- Woman without child going to NA meetings: Maya is a 30-year-old female with an opiate use disorder. Five years ago, she was dependent on heroin and gradually lost interest in other activities in life. Because of her drug use, she lost her job. Three years ago, she started attending narcotic's anonymous meetings regularly. In the past 3 years,

she has attended NA meetings regularly, has not used heroin, and is able to sustain her employment.

Appendix E: Patient Debriefing Form

Thank you for your interest or participation in the opiate use disorder study.

We hope that by exploring how people perceive those with opiate use disorder we can understand certain group's unique treatment needs when navigating recovery.

This is provided as a reminder that should your participation in this project lead to a desire to seek additional services, you may contact any of the agencies listed below.

Psychological Services

US National Suicide Prevention Lifeline Call 1-800-273-TALK (8255); En Español 1-888-628-9454 Crisis Text Line: Text "HELLO" to 741741 Canada Suicide Pervention 1-833-456-4566 Canadian crisis Text: Text message to 45645

Substance Use Services

SAMHSA National Helpline Confidential free help, from public health agencies, to find substance use treatment and information. 1-800-662-4357

References

- Adams, Z. W., Taylor, B. G., Flanagan, E., Kwon, E., Johnson-Kwochka, A. V., Elkington, K. S., Becan, J. E., & Aalsma, M. C. (2021). Opioid use disorder stigma, discrimination, and policy attitudes in a national sample of U.S. young adults. *The Journal of adolescent health: official publication of the Society for Adolescent Medicine*, 69(2), 321–328. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2020.12.142
- American Psychological Association. (2019). Americans becoming more open about mental health. *Retrieved May*, *1*, 2019.
- The American Society of Addiction Medicine (2017). Advancing access to addiction medications.
- Ahmedani, B. K. (2011). Mental health stigma: Society, individuals, and the profession. *Journal* of social work values and ethics, 8(2), 41–416.
- Atkinson, D. R., & Gim, R. H. (1989). Asian-American cultural identity and attitudes toward mental health services. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 36(2), 209– 212. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0167.36.2.209</u>
- Barnett, E. R., Knight, E., Herman, R. J., Amarakaran, K., & Jankowski, M. K. (2021). Difficult binds: A systematic review of facilitators and barriers to treatment among mothers with substance use disorders. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 126, 108341.
- Barry, M. M., Doherty, A., Hope, A., Sixsmith, J., & Kelleher, C. C. (2000). A community needs assessment for rural mental health promotion. *Health education research*, 15(3), 293–304. https://doi.org/10.1093/her/15.3.293
- Bell, J. R., Butler, B., Lawrance, A., Batey, R., & Salmelainen, P. (2009). Comparing overdose mortality associated with methadone and buprenorphine treatment. *Drug and alcohol dependence*, 104(1-2), 73–77. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2009.03.020</u>
- Brezing, C. & Marcovitz, D. (2016). Stigma and persons with substance use disorders. *Current Clinical Psychiatry*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-27580-2_7</u>
- Brown, S. A., Kramer, K., Lewno, B., Dumas, L., Sacchetti, G., & Powell, E. (2015). Correlates of self-stigma among individuals with substance use problems. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction*, 13(6), 687– 698. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11469-015-9559-9

- Brown S. A. (2011). Standardized measures for substance use stigma. *Drug and alcohol dependence*, *116*(1-3), 137–141. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2010.12.005</u>
- Buckwitz, V., Juergensen, V., Göbel, M., Schomerus, G., & Speerforck, S. (2023). Roles of perception of similarities, continuum beliefs, and social distance toward a person with schizophrenia: a German sample study. *Social psychiatry and psychiatric epidemiology*, 58(4), 681–684. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00127-023-02423-1</u>
- Chalana, H., Sachdeva, J. K., Kundal, T., Malhari, A. S., & Choudhary, R. (2015). A doubleblind, placebo-controlled, randomized study comparing quetiapine with placebo, along with oral naltrexone, in the treatment of opioid dependent patients. *Journal* of Evolution of Medical and Dental Sciences, 4(53), 9158-9167.
- Chowdhury, A. N., Sanyal, D., Dutta, S. K., Banerjee, S., De, R., Bhattacharya, K., & Weiss, M. G. (2000). Stigma and mental illness: Pilot study of laypersons and health care providers with the EMIC in rural West Bengal, India. *International Medical Journal-Tokyo*, 7(4), 257-260.
- CDC (2021). About opioid use during pregnancy. National Center for Health Statistics. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/</u>.
- CDC (2021). Treatment for opioid use disorder before, during, and after pregnancy. National Center for Health Statistics. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/</u>.
- Chan, K. Y., Stoové, M. A., & Reidpath, D. D. (2008). Stigma, social reciprocity and exclusion of HIV/AIDS patients with illicit drug histories: A study of Thai nurses' attitudes. *Harm Reduction Journal*, 5(1), 1-11.
- Committee on the Science of Changing Behavioral Health Social Norms, Board on Behavioral, Cognitive, and Sensory Sciences, Division of Behavioral and Social Sciences and Education, National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine (2016). Ending discrimination against people with mental and substance use disorders: The evidence for stigma change. *National Academies Press*. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK384923/</u>
- Conner, K. O., Koeske, G., & Brown, C. (2009). Racial differences in attitudes toward professional mental health treatment: the mediating effect of stigma. *Journal of* gerontological social work, 52(7), 695–712. https://doi.org/10.1080/01634370902914372
- Conner, K., & Rosen, D. (2008). "You're nothing but a junkie": Multiple experiences of stigma in an aging methadone maintenance population. *Journal of Social Work Practice in the Addictions*. 8. 244-264. 10.1080/15332560802157065.

- Cooke, J. S., Oates, J. M., Wilson, M. R., & Pinier, C. (2023). Bad mommies: socio-cognitive judgments of single mothers with alcohol use disorder. *The Journal of general psychology*, 150(1), 71–95. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00221309.2021.1922343</u>
- Corrigan, P. W., River, L. P., Lundin, R. K., Penn, D. L., Uphoff-Wasowski, K., Campion, J., Mathisen, J., Gagnon, C., Bergman, M., Goldstein, H., & Kubiak, M. A. (2001a). Three strategies for changing attributions about severe mental illness. *Schizophrenia bulletin*, 27(2), 187–195. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.schbul.a006865</u>
- Corrigan, P. W., River, L. P., Lundin, R. K., Penn, D. L., Uphoff-Wasowski, K., Campion, J., Mathisen, J., Gagnon, C., Bergman, M., Goldstein, H., & Kubiak, M. A. (2001b). Three strategies for changing attributions about severe mental illness. *Schizophrenia bulletin*, 27(2), 187–195. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.schbul.a006865</u>
- Corrigan, P., Markowitz, F. E., Watson, A., Rowan, D., & Kubiak, M. A. (2003). An attribution model of public discrimination towards persons with mental illness. *Journal of health and social behavior*, 44(2), 162–179.
- Corrigan, P. W., Kuwabara, S. A., & O'Shaughnessy, J. (2009a). The Public stigma of mental illness and drug addiction: Findings from a stratified random sample. Journal of social work, 9(2), 139–147. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1468017308101818</u>
- Corrigan, P. W., Larson, J. E., & Ruesch, N. (2009b). Self-stigma and the "why try" effect: impact on life goals and evidence-based practices. World psychiatry, 8(2), 75.
- Crandall, C. S. (1991). Multiple stigma and AIDS: Illness stigma and attitudes toward homosexuals and IV drug users in AIDS-related stigmatization. *Journal of Community & Applied Social Psychology*, 1(2), 165-172.
- Crapanzano, K. A., Hammarlund, R., Ahmad, B., Hunsinger, N., & Kullar, R. (2018). The association between perceived stigma and substance use disorder treatment outcomes: a review. *Substance abuse and rehabilitation*, *10*, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.2147/SAR.S183252
- Crawford, A. D., McGlothen-Bell, K., Recto, P., McGrath, J. M., Scott, L., Brownell, E. A., & Cleveland, L. M. (2022). Stigmatization of pregnant individuals with opioid use disorder. *Women's health reports (New Rochelle, N.Y.)*, 3(1), 172–179. https://doi.org/10.1089/whr.2021.0112
- Crespo, M., Pérez-Santos, E., Munoz, M., & Guillén, A. I. (2008). Descriptive study of stigma associated with severe and persistent mental illness among the general population of Madrid (Spain). *Community Mental Health Journal*, *44*, 393-403.

- Crisp, A., Gelder, M., Goddard, E., & Meltzer, H. (2005). Stigmatization of people with mental illnesses: a follow-up study within the Changing Minds campaign of the Royal College of Psychiatrists. *World psychiatry*, 4(2), 106.
- Dasgupta, N., Beletsky, L., & Ciccarone, D. (2018). Opioid crisis: No easy fix to its social and economic determinants. *American journal of public health*, 108(2), 182–186. <u>https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2017.304187</u>
- Deacon, H., & Boulle, A. (2007). Commentary: Factors affecting HIV/AIDS-related stigma and discrimination by medical professionals. *International journal of epidemiology*, 36(1), 185–186. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyl255
- Deng, Q., Hu, M., Yu, F., Liu, Q., Hao, W., Wu, Q., & Luo, T. (2020). A Community-based investigation of stigma toward individuals receiving methadone maintenance treatment in China: A randomized case vignette study. *Frontiers in psychiatry*, 11, 601266. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2020.601266</u>
- Derkas, E. (2011). "Don't let your pregnancy get in the way of your drug addiction": CRACK and the ideological construction of addicted women. *Social Justice*, *38*(3 (125)), 125–144. <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/41940951</u>
- Dydyk, A. M., Jain, N. K., & Gupta, M. (2022). Opioid use disorder. *StatPearls*. StatPearls Publishing.
- Elms, N., Link, K., Newman, A., & Brogly, S. B. (2018). Need for women-centered treatment for substance use disorders: results from focus group discussions. *Harm reduction journal*, 15, 1-8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12954-018-0247-5</u>
- Favre, S., Aubry, J. M., & Richard-Lepouriel, H. (2023). Perceived public stigma and perceived public exposure by persons living with bipolar disorder: A qualitative study. *The International journal of social psychiatry*, 69(2), 378–387. https://doi.org/10.1177/00207640221093495
- Feder, K. A., Mojtabai, R., Musci, R. J., & Letourneau, E. J. (2018). U.S. adults with opioid use disorder living with children: Treatment use and barriers to care. *Journal of* substance abuse treatment, 93, 31–37. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2018.07.011</u>
- Feeg, V. D., Prager, L. S., Moylan, L. B., Smith, K. M., & Cullinan, M. (2014). Predictors of mental illness stigma and attitudes among college students: using vignettes from a campus common reading program. *Issues in mental health nursing*, 35(9), 694– 703. https://doi.org/10.3109/01612840.2014.892551
- Fiddian-Green, A., Gubrium, A. C., Harrington, C., & Evans, E. (2019). Women-reported barriers and facilitators of adherence to medications for opioid use disorder.

- Fitzgerald, P. J. (2013). Elevated norepinephrine may be a unifying etiological factor in the abuse of a broad range of substances: Alcohol, nicotine, marijuana, heroin, cocaine, and caffeine. Substance abuse: research and treatment, 7, 171–183. <u>https://doi.org/10.4137/SART.S13019</u>
- Friedman, A., Weinberg, H., & Pines, A. M. (1998). Sexuality and motherhood: Mutually exclusive in perception of women. *Sex Roles*, *38*(9), 781-800. <u>https://proxy.lib.umich.edu/login?url=https://www.proquest.com/scholarly-journals/sexuality-motherhood-mutually-exclusive/docview/225383649/se-2</u>
- Gao, Y. A., Krans, E. E., Chen, Q., Rothenberger, S. D., Zivin, K., & Jarlenski, M. P. (2023). Sex-related differences in the prevalence of substance use disorders, treatment, and overdose among parents with young children. *Addictive behaviors reports*, 17, 100492. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.abrep.2023.100492</u>
- Girma, E., Tesfaye, M., Froeschl, G., Möller-Leimkühler, A. M., Müller, N., & Dehning, S. (2013). Public stigma against people with mental illness in the Gilgel Gibe Field Research Center (GGFRC) in Southwest Ethiopia. *PloS one*, 8(12), e82116. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0082116
- Goffman, E. (1963). Stigma: Notes on the management of spoiled identity.
- Goodyear, K., Ahluwalia, J., & Chavanne, D. (2022). The impact of race, gender, and heroin use on opioid addiction stigma. *Journal of substance abuse treatment*, 143, 108872. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2022.108872</u>
- Griffiths, K.M., Christensen, H. & Jorm, A.F. Predictors of depression stigma. *BMC Psychiatry* **8**, 25 (2008). https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-244X-8-25
- Huhn, A. S., & Dunn, K. E. (2020). Challenges for women entering treatment for opioid use disorder. *Current psychiatry reports*, 22(12), 76. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11920-020-01201-z</u>
- Jang, Y., Chiriboga, D.A., Herrera, J.R. (2011). Attitudes toward mental health services in hispanic older adults: The Role of misconceptions and personal beliefs. *Community Ment Health J* 47, 164–170 (2011). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10597-009-9274-8
- Jones, N., & Corrigan, P. W. (2014). Understanding stigma.
- Jorm, A. F., & Reavley, N. J. (2014). Public belief that mentally ill people are violent: is the USA exporting stigma to the rest of the world?. *The Australian and New Zealand journal of psychiatry*, 48(3), 213–215. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0004867413509697</u>

- Kendler, K. S., Prescott, C. A., Myers, J., & Neale, M. C. (2003). The structure of genetic and environmental risk factors for common psychiatric and substance use disorders in men and women. *Archives of general psychiatry*, 60(9), 929–937. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.60.9.929</u>
- Kennedy-Hendricks, A., McGinty, E. E., & Barry, C. L. (2016). Effects of competing narratives on public perceptions of opioid pain reliever addiction during pregnancy. *Journal of health politics, policy and law, 41*(5), 873-916.
- Kennedy-Hendricks, A., Barry, C. L., Gollust, S. E., Ensminger, M. E., Chisolm, M. S., & McGinty, E. E. (2017). Social stigma toward persons with prescription opioid use disorder: associations with public support for punitive and public health–oriented policies. *Psychiatric services*, 68(5), 462-469.
- Kennedy-Hendricks, A., McGinty, E.E., Summers, A., Krenn, S., Fingerhood, M.I., & Barry, C.L (2022). Effect of exposure to visual campaigns and narrative vignettes on addiction stigma among health care professionals: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA Netw Open. 2022;5(2):e2146971. doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.46971
- Keyes, M., Hatzenbuehler, M., McLaughlin, K., Link, B., Olfson, F., Grant, D., Hasin, A. (2010). Stigma and treatment for alcohol disorders in the United States. *American journal of epidemiology*, 172(12), 1364–1372. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwq304</u>
- Kulesza, M., Matsuda, M., Ramirez, J. J., Werntz, A. J., Teachman, B. A., & Lindgren, K. P. (2016). Towards greater understanding of addiction stigma: Intersectionality with race/ethnicity and gender. *Drug and alcohol dependence*, 169, 85–91. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2016.10.020</u>
- Lauber, C., Nordt, C., Falcato, L., & Rössler, W. (2004). Factors influencing social distance toward people with mental illness. *Community mental health journal*, 40(3), 265– 274. https://doi.org/10.1023/b:comh.0000026999.87728.2d
- Latalova, K., Kamaradova, D., & Prasko, J. (2014). Perspectives on perceived stigma and selfstigma in adult male patients with depression. *Neuropsychiatric disease and treatment*, 10, 1399–1405. <u>https://doi.org/10.2147/NDT.S54081</u>
- Lee, N., & Boeri, M. (2017). Managing Stigma: Women Drug Users and Recovery Services. *Fusio : the Bentley undergraduate research journal*, 1(2), 65–94.
- Lefebvre, R. C., Chandler, R. K., Helme, D. W., Kerner, R., Mann, S., Stein, M. D., Reynolds, J., Slater, M. D., Anakaraonye, A. R., Beard, D., Burrus, O., Frkovich, J., Hedrick, H., Lewis, N., & Rodgers, E. (2020). Health communication campaigns to drive demand for evidence-based practices and reduce stigma in the HEALing

communities study. Drug and Alcohol Dependence, 217, 108338. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2020.108338

- Link, B. G., Struening, E. L., Rahav, M., Phelan, J. C., & Nuttbrock, L. (1997). On stigma and its consequences: Evidence from a longitudinal study of men with dual diagnoses of mental illness and substance abuse. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 38(2), 177–190. https://doi.org/10.2307/2955424
- Livingston, J. D. (2020). Structural stigma in health-care contexts for people with mental health and substance use issues: A literature review. Ottawa: Mental Health Commission of Canada.
- Löffler, C.S., Greitemeyer, T. (2023). Are women the more empathetic gender? The effects of gender role expectations. *Curr Psychol* 42, 220–231. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-020-01260-8
- Luoma, J. B. (2011). Substance use stigma as a barrier to treatment and recovery. *Addiction medicine: Science and practice*, 1195-1215.
- Luoma, J. B., Nobles, R. H., Drake, C. E., Hayes, S. C., O'Hair, A., Fletcher, L., & Kohlenberg, B. S. (2013). Self-stigma in substance abuse: Development of a new measure. *Journal of psychopathology and behavioral assessment*, 35(2), 223–234. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10862-012-9323-4</u>
- Luty, J., Fekadu, D., Umoh, O., & Gallagher, J. (2006). Validation of a short instrument to measure stigmatised attitudes towards mental illness. *Psychiatric Bulletin*, 30(7), 257-260. doi:10.1192/pb.30.7.257
- Madden, E. F., Prevedel, S., Light, T., & Sulzer, S. H. (2021). Intervention stigma toward medications for opioid use disorder: A systematic review. Substance Use & Misuse, 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 10826084.2021.1975749
- Mak, W. W., Poon, C. Y., Pun, L. Y., & Cheung, S. F. (2007). Meta-analysis of stigma and mental health. *Social science & medicine (1982)*, 65(2), 245–261. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2007.03.015
- Mannarini, S. & Boffo, M. (2015). Anxiety, bulimia, drug and alcohol addiction, depression, and schizophrenia: what do you think about their aetiology, dangerousness, social distance, and treatment? A latent class analysis approach. *Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol* **50**, 27–37. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00127-014-0925-x</u>
- McKellar, J. D., Harris, A. H., & Moos, R. H. (2009). Patients' abstinence status affects the benefits of 12-step self-help group participation on substance use disorder outcomes. *Drug and alcohol dependence*, 99(1-3), 115–122. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2008.07.005

- McLellan, A. T., Lewis, D. C., O'Brien, C. P., & Kleber, H. D. (2000). Drug dependence, a chronic medical illness: implications for treatment, insurance, and outcomes evaluation. JAMA, 284(13), 1689–1695. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.284.13.1689</u>
- Mushtaq, S., Mendes, V., Nikolaou, V., & Luty, J. (2015). Analysis of the possible components of stigmatized attitudes towards depression and heroin dependence. *Journal of Substance Use*, 20(6), 399-406.
- National Institute on Drug Abuse. (2020). Sex and gender differences in substance use. National Institute on Drug Abuse. https://www.drugabuse.gov/publications/researchreports/substance-use-in-women/ sex-gender-differences-in-substance-use.
- NIDA. (2020). Opioid Use Disorder Treatment. Drugabuse.Gov. https://nida.nih.gov/nidamedmedical-health-professionals/treatment/opioid-use-disorder-treatment
- NIDA. (2021). Opioid Overdose Crisis. Drugabuse.Gov. https://www.drugabuse.gov/drugtopics/opioids/ opioid-overdose-crisis.
- Phillipi, J. C., Schulte, R., Bonnet, K., Schlundt, D. D., Cooper, W. O., Martin, P. R., Kozhimannil, K. B., & Patrick, S. W. (2021). Reproductive-age women's experience of accessing treatment for opioid use disorder: "We don't do that here". Women's health issues: official publication of the Jacobs Institute of women's health, 31(5), 455–461. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.whi.2021.03.010</u>
- Pyne, J. M., Kuc, E. J., Schroeder, P. J., Fortney, J. C., Edlund, M., & Sullivan, G. (2004). Relationship between perceived stigma and depression severity. *The Journal of nervous and mental disease*, 192(4), 278–283. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/01.nmd.0000120886.39886.a3</u>
- Rankin, L., Mendoza, N. S., & Grisham, L. (2023). Unpacking perinatal experiences with opioid use disorder: relapse risk implications. *Clinical social work journal*, 51(1), 34–45. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10615-022-00847-x
- Robb, C., Haley, W. E., Becker, M. A., Polivka, L. A., & Chwa, H. J. (2003). Attitudes towards mental health care in younger and older adults: similarities and differences. *Aging* & mental health, 7(2), 142–152. https://doi.org/10.1080/1360786031000072321
- Ross, C. A., & Goldner, E. M. (2009). Stigma, negative attitudes and discrimination towards mental illness within the nursing profession: a review of the literature. *Journal of psychiatric and mental health nursing*, 16(6), 558–567. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2850.2009.01399.x
- Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, (2009). Substance abuse treatment: addressing the specific needs of women. *Treatment improvement*

protocol (TIP) series. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK83252/?report=reader

- Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services, (2020). Medication-Assisted Treatment (MAT). Samhsa.Gov. https://www.samhsa.gov/medication-assistedtreatment/medications-counseling-related-conditions.
- Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services, (2023). *National Survey on Drug Use and Health* 2023. <u>https://datafiles.samhsa.gov/</u>
- Schomerus, G., Lucht, M., Holzinger, A., Matschinger, H., Carta, M. G., & Angermeyer, M. C. (2011). The stigma of alcohol dependence compared with other mental disorders: a review of population studies. *Alcohol and alcoholism (Oxford, Oxfordshire)*, 46(2), 105–112. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/alcalc/agq089</u>
- Scorsone, K. L., Haozous, E. A., Hayes, L., & Cox, K. J. (2020). Overcoming barriers: Individual experiences obtaining medication-assisted treatment for opioid use disorder. *Qualitative health research*, 30(13), 2103–2117. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732320938689
- Shulman, M., Wai, J.M. & Nunes, E.V. (2019). Buprenorphine treatment for opioid use disorder: An overview. *CNS Drugs*. 33, 567–580. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40263-019-00637-z
- Sorsdahl, K., Stein, D.J. & Myers, B. Negative attributions towards people with substance use disorders in South Africa: Variation across substances and by gender. *BMC Psychiatry* 12, 101 (2012). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-244X-12-101</u>
- Stockton, M. A., Mughal, A. Y., Bui, Q., Greene, M. C., Pence, B. W., Go, V., & Gaynes, B. N. (2021). Psychometric performance of the perceived stigma of substance abuse scale (PSAS) among patients on methadone maintenance therapy in Vietnam. *Drug and alcohol dependence*, 226, 108831. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2021.108831</u>
- Strain, J. J. (2002). Kaplan & Sadock's pocket handbook of clinical psychiatry. *The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 63(10), 10078.
- Stone, R (2015). Pregnant women and substance use: fear, stigma, and barriers to care. *Health* Justice. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40352-015-0015-5</u>
- Stringer, K. L., & Baker, E. H. (2018). Stigma as a barrier to substance abuse treatment among those with unmet need: An analysis of parenthood and marital status. *Journal of family issues*, 39(1), 3–27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0192513X15581659</u>
- Subu, M. A., Wati, D. F., Netrida, N., Priscilla, V., Dias, J. M., Abraham, M. S., Slewa-Younan, S., & Al-Yateem, N. (2021). Types of stigma experienced by patients with mental

illness and mental health nurses in Indonesia: a qualitative content analysis. *International journal of mental health systems*, *15*(1), 77. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13033-021-00502-x

- Tai, B., Saxon, A. J., & Ling, W. (2013). Medication-assisted therapy for opioid addiction. *Journal of food and drug analysis*, 21(4), S13-S15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfda.2013.09.023</u>
- Thege, B. K., Colman, I., el-Guebaly, N., Hodgins, D. C., Patten, S. B., Schopflocher, D., & Wild, T. C. (2015). Social judgments of behavioral versus substance-related addictions: A population-based study. *Addictive behaviors*, 42, 24-31.
- Thompson, A. E., Anisimowicz, Y., Miedema, B., Hogg, W., Wodchis, W. P., & Aubrey-Bassler, K. (2016). The influence of gender and other patient characteristics on health care-seeking behaviour: a QUALICOPC study. *BMC family practice*, 17, 38. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12875-016-0440-0
- Tuliao, A. P., & Holyoak, D. (2020). Psychometric properties of the perceived stigma towards substance users scale: factor structure, internal consistency, and associations with help-seeking variables. *The American journal of drug and alcohol abuse*, 46(2), 158–166. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00952990.2019.1658198</u>
- Turan, J.M., Elafros, M.A., Logie, C.H. *et al.* Challenges and opportunities in examining and addressing intersectional stigma and health. *BMC Med* **17**, 7 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12916-018-1246-9
- Weber, A., Miskle, B., Lynch, A., Arndt, S., & Acion, L. (2021). Substance use in pregnancy: Identifying stigma and improving care. Substance abuse and rehabilitation, 12, 105–121.

https://doi.org/10.2147/SAR.S319180

- Wills, T. A., McNamara, G., & Vaccaro, D. (1995). Parental education related to adolescent stress-coping and substance use: development of a mediational model. *Health* psychology : official journal of the Division of Health Psychology, American Psychological Association, 14(5), 464–478. https://doi.org/10.1037//0278-6133.14.5.464
- Wirth, J. H., & Bodenhausen, G. V. (2009). The role of gender in mental-illness stigma: a national experiment. *Psychological science*, *20*(2), 169–173. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9280.2009.02282.x
- Woo, J., Bhalerao, A., Bawor, M., Bhatt, M., Dennis, B., Mouravska, N., Zielinski, L., & Samaan, Z. (2017). "Don't judge a book by its cover": A Qualitative study of methadone patients' experiences of stigma. *Substance abuse: research and treatment*, 11, 1178221816685087. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1178221816685087</u>

Yang, L. H., Wong, L. Y., Grivel, M. M., & Hasin, D. S. (2017). Stigma and substance use disorders: an international phenomenon. Current opinion in psychiatry, 30(5), 378–388. https://doi.org/10.1097/YCO.00000000000351